

Doctoral School of Business and Management

# THESIS SUMMARY

To the Ph.D. dissertation

# ZSUZSANNA FEHÉR

Sustainable museums:

a new paradigm for the 21st century from the perspective of museum professionals and visitors

**Supervisors:** 

Dr. Katalin Ásványi

associate professor

## Dr. Melanie Kay Smith

habil. associate professor

Budapest, 2023

Corvinus University of Budapest Department of Tourism

## THESIS SUMMARY

To the Ph.D. dissertation

# Zsuzsanna Fehér

## Sustainable museums:

# a new paradigm for the 21st century

from the perspective of museum professionals and visitors

**Supervisors:** 

# Dr. Katalin Ásványi

associate professor

### Dr. Melanie Kay Smith

habil. associate professor

© Zsuzsanna Fehér

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

I. RESEARCH BACKGROUND AND JUSTIFICATION OF THE TOPIC	4
I.1. Museums' role in sustainable development	5
I.2. Sustainability of museums based on 4 pillars	6
I.3. Research questions	
II. METHODS APPLIED	
II.1. Data collection	9
II.2. Systematic Literature Review	
II.3. Critical Discourse Analysis (CDA)	10
II.4. Content Analysis	
II.5. Q-method research	11
II.6. In-depth interviews	11
III. RESULTS	12
III.1. Response to the main research question	12
III.2. Theoretical contributions	15
III.3. Practical implications	17
III.4. Limitations and future research directions	
IV. REFERENCES	19
V. LIST OF PUBLICATIONS	22

### LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. Sustainability models of the museums	. 5
Table 2. Sustainability of the museums based on four pillars	. 6
Table 3. Conceptual framework for the primary research	. 7
Table 4. Theoretical and practical contribution of research         1	15

#### I. RESEARCH BACKGROUND AND JUSTIFICATION OF THE TOPIC

One of the most important basic functions of museums is to preserve the cultural resources of a community, not only for the present but also for future generations. However changing levels of government, corporate and individual support, new demographic indicators and the rapid development of information technology are encouraging museums to rethink and develop new strategies.

In recent years, the concepts of sustainability and sustainable development have constantly come to the attention of researchers and practitioners, and have become more widespread. Museums are no exception to this process and sustainability is increasingly becoming a priority for museums, as reflected in the new definition adopted by ICOM in 2022.

Well-managed museums not only ensure their own sustainability but also play an important role in the sustainable economic development of different urban regions (Gustafsson and Ijla 2017). The quality of the products and services offered by museums directly influences the development of cultural tourism in a given region as well. Cultural tourism is a key factor for sustainable development and intercultural dialogue however several scenarios for its future seem to be emerging, which is why it has never been more important to coordinate and align the key actors' perspectives (Matteucci et al. 2022). In the strategic alliance between culture and tourism, sustainability should be used as a bridge connecting them (Pop and Borza 2015).

Through the phenomenon of a sustainable museum, we can understand the complexity of museums, their role in society and find the points where they can be linked to the economy and tourism in a sustainable way. Much depends on how museums perceive their role in this process, as this will have a long-term impact on the extent to which they contribute to sustainable development.

It is therefore important to explore this area and despite the obvious links between museums, culture and sustainability, not much research has explored how museums fit into sustainability and how different stakeholders can contribute to promoting cultural sustainability.

Based on this, the main research question of my study is:

# How can a sustainable museum be defined based on the mission statements of European contemporary art museums and according to the value preferences of museum professionals and museum visitors?

The dissertation is based on the presentation of five journal articles and a theoretical summary of the topic. The introduction to the summary of the dissertation outlines the theoretical background of the research (Chapter I), the methods used (Chapter II) and the main findings of the publications. Chapter III summarises the theoretical and practical contributions that are the main findings of the research.

How do museums need to change in order to play their role as catalysts for the promotion of human culture around the world in the 21st century, to meet new challenges? Empirical research on this topic can make a significant contribution to the social and economic changes that we now perceive as necessary and essential for a sustainable future. Many authors have concluded that sustainability requires the rebuilding of the foundations of social and economic structures, both locally and globally, and that museums can facilitate these processes (Belfiore & Bennett 2007)

#### I.1. Museums' role in sustainable development

Author	Model	Highlights			
Jung 2011	Ecological museum model	If museums operate as an ecosystem, they can			
_	-	ensure their long-term sustainability			
Campolmi 2013	Archétopy museum model	The information (knowledge) is not presented as			
		final but as provisional expert opinions			
Stylianou-Lambert	Culture-focused four-	Culture emerges as a 4th dimension that is worth			
et al. 2014	dimensional museum model	preserving and how cultural skills and knowledge			
		can be passed on to future generations			
Wickham &	Sustainability priorities	Sustainability should be extended to the wider			
Lehman 2015	model	range of resources (e.g. human capital, cultural,			
		historical, social and economic resources)			
Pop & Borza 2016	Museum Sustainability	Sustainability can be strongly influenced by the			
	Measurement Model	size of the museum and the financial and human			
		resources available.			
Pencarelli et al.	<b>Regional Sustainability</b>	Museums can create long-term value for multiple			
2016	Model	stakeholders			
Magliacani &	An economics-based four-	The economic dimension appears as the basis for			
Sorrentino 2021	dimensional museum model	the other dimensions			

Table 1. Sustainability models of the museums

Source: own editing

The presented models reflect how the theoretical framework for museum sustainability has evolved. The starting point is the Ecological model (Jung 2011), which already anticipated the idea that all museum activities are closely interconnected and the Archetype museum model (Campolmi 2013), which envisages a museum that is symbiotic with society and constantly reinterpreting itself. Culture (Stylianou-Lambert et al. 2014) has been included as a fourth dimension in the classic triple bottom line sustainability model. The model of priorities addresses internal and external stakeholders and resources that determine sustainability (Wickham & Lehman 2015) and Pencarelli et al.'s (2016) model describes the value creation at regional level. Recent research highlights the importance of the economic dimension as a basis for other dimensions (Magliacani & Sorrentino 2021).

#### I.2. Sustainability of museums based on 4 pillars

Soini and Birkeland (2014) examined the discourse on the concept of cultural sustainability by analysing the academic publications that mention the term. They found that cultural sustainability is a transdisciplinary, constantly evolving term that can be organised around seven narratives: heritage, cultural vitality, economic viability, diversity, localism, ecocultural resilience and ecocultural civilisation. The authors argue that while most of these narratives are linked to economic, social and environmental sustainability, the narratives of heritage and cultural vitality can be seen as forming the fourth (cultural) pillar of sustainable development. These two narratives, which focus on the promotion and preservation of cultural capital for future generations, are key issues for museums and can be seen as essential tools for cultural sustainability. This theoretical approach has been accepted by the authors Stylianou - Lambert et al. (2014) and Pop and Borza (2016) and the Q methodological research presented in the dissertation also examine museum sustainability within this theoretical framework.

Economic	Social	Enverionmental	Cultural
Tourism	Education	Allocation and use of	Mission and vision of
Siu et al. 2013	Moldanova 2016	natural resources	the museums and the
Pop & Borza 2015	Hansson & Öhman 2022	Wickham & Lehman,	role of their collections
		2015	in society
			Ankersmit 2021
Organisational	Active use of cultural	Efficient building	Collection management
development	heritage	maintenance	Ankersmit 2021,
Dollery et al. 2007	Schaper 2018	Pedro et al. 2013;	Manfriani et al. 2021
Brown 2020	Llamazares de Prado	Arroyo et al. 2016	Orea & Giner et al. 2021
Ost & Saleh 2021	2021 Hammady et al.	Sterrett & Piantavigna	
	2021	2018 Hassanizadeh	
		& Noorzai 2020	
		Aleksandrov 2021	
Services	Community	Shaping eco-conscious	Exhibition
Comaan & Pop 2012	involvement	attitudes of visitors	management
Stokburger-Sauer &	Llamazares de Prado	Han et al. 2021 Navas	Manfriani et al. 2021,
Wetzels 2007	2021	Iannini & Pedretti 2022	Jurčišinová et al. 2021,
Dollery et al. 2007		Aguayo et al. 2020;	Bodnár et al. 2017
		Huang et al. 2022	Douglas et al. 2018 Clini
		Molina -Torres 2021	& Quattrini 2021
Sustainable financial	Influencing society		Digitisation
approach	Azmat et al. 2018		Wang et al 2021, Muñoz
Carroll & Slater 2009,			- López et al. 2021, Clini
Güner & Gülaçtı 2022			& Quattrini 2021
			Future-oriented
			approach
			Viau & Courville 2021,
			Carr 2021

Table 2. Sustainability of the museums based on four pillar	Tabl	e 2.	Sustain	ability	of t	he m	useums	based	on	four	pillars
---	------	------	---------	---------	------	------	--------	-------	----	------	---------

Source: own editing

#### **I.3. Research questions**

Museum professionals have for some time been increasingly concerned about the changes affecting museums: dwindling public funding, changing visitor expectations, the challenges of new technology, the growing focus on the environment, the widening gaps between different social groups. How do museums need to change to stay relevant? As the problem is very complex, a response was sought that could address all these challenges at once. The 21st century has brought with it a new paradigm of sustainability that can point the way to a solution. The research sought to find out what progress museums are currently making in this area and what preferences visitors and museum managers have regarding the complex issue of sustainable museums.

#### Main research question (RQ)

How can a sustainable museum be defined based on the mission statements of European contemporary art museums and according to the value preferences of museum professionals and museum visitors?

Research goals	RQ	Article
to analyze how European contemporary	Q1	A1
art museums have incorporated	What sustainability practices characterize European	
sustainability into their mission	contemporary art museums based on the information	
statements	set out in their mission statements?	
	Q2	
	Are there regional differences in the sustainability	
	contents of the mission statements? What are the	
	differences between mission statements in CEE and	
	non-CEE countries' museums?	
to investigate the progress in the	Q3	A2
adoption of sustainable practices at	What are the sustainability practices of European	
European contemporary art museums	museums based on information available on their	
along four pillars	website?	
to find out what opinion preferences	Q4	A3
Hungarian museum leaders have about	What are the most important criteria for a	
sustainability, what are the similarities	sustainable museum?	
and differences in their views.		
to determine museum visitors'	Q5	A4
preferences related to the most important	What are the elements of museum sustainability that	
sustainability elements of museums	Generation Z prefers?	
to identify key elements that make a	Q6	A5
museum family- friendly and to define	What are the criteria for family-friendly museums?	
criteria for this designation.		

Table 3. Conceptual framework for the primary research

Source: own editing

# Q1. What sustainability practices characterize European contemporary art museums based on the information set out in their mission statements?

Research on sustainability in museums typically focuses on one dimension of sustainability, with little research on a holistic understanding of sustainability. Research on how museums align with sustainability is not a new topic, but rare in the context of contemporary art museums. The paper aims to analyze how European contemporary art museums have incorporated sustainability into their mission statements. The study uses a qualitative discourse analysis method to examine the content of the missions of 50 European contemporary art museums.

# Q2. Are there regional differences in the sustainability contents of the mission statements? What are the differences between mission statements in CEE and non-CEE countries' museums?

During the research, we considered it important to explore whether there are regional differences between European museums. The former socialist countries of Eastern Europe have a number of social, economic and political specificities that may have an impact on the sustainable functioning of museums.

# Q3. What are the sustainability practices of European museums based on information available on their website?

This paper investigates progress in the adoption of sustainable practices at European contemporary art museums according to four pillars of sustainability. Museums take various steps to adapt the goals of a sustainable future in their operation. Qualitative content analysis was used to capture how sustainable are European contemporary art museums and what are the differences between different European countries.

#### Q4. What are the most important criteria for a sustainable museum?

Museums play a unique role in cultural sustainability by preserving the heritage of their communities and allowing cultural capital to be accumulated and passed on from current generations to future generations. In the course of their development, museums have acquired a wealth of knowledge through continuous and in-depth research. The question is how should museums change in the 21<sup>st</sup> century to meet new challenges and become sustainable and play a catalytic role in advancing human culture? The aim of our research is to find out what opinion preferences Hungarian museum leaders have about sustainability and what are the similarities and differences in their views.

#### Q5. What are the elements of museum sustainability that Generation Z prefers?

Museums and researchers require knowledge of how museums think about and practice sustainability to understand how sustainability considerations can further be incorporated and institutionalised into museum practice according to four pillars: environmental, social, economic and cultural. A systematic literature review was carried out to explore the theoretical background of sustainable museums. This study, which used Q methodology, was designed to determine museum visitors' preferences related to the most important sustainability elements of museums.

#### Q6. What are the criteria for family-friendly museums?

In their traditional role, museums are cultural mediators, sources of information and research. However, as the needs of consumers with regards to museums are changing, institutions should instead focus on the opportunity to participate, learn and experience. The aim of our study is to identify key elements that make a museum family-friendly and to define criteria for this designation. The framework was constructed based on the analysis of in-depth interviews with families with constructive grounded theory.

#### **II. METHODS APPLIED**

Five research methods were carried out: systematic literature review to explore the theoretical background of a sustainable museum, qualitative content analysis and critical discourse analysis (CDA) to investigate museum websites and missions, Q method to assess the preferences of museum directors and young museum visitors, and grounded theory to analyze the needs of families.

#### **II.1. Data collection**

Secondary and primary data collection were conducted in the research.

A systematic literature review was carried out as secondary data collection, the methodology of which is briefly described in this chapter and the details of the analysis are presented in a journal article (A4). During the primary data collection, museums' web pages were analyzed (A1, A2) and museum directors (A3), young museum-goers (A4) and families (A5) were asked to participate in the research.

#### **II.2.** Systematic Literature Review

#### Four-phase literature review

A systematic review of the literature was necessary to explore the theoretical background of a sustainable museum. The process of literature review was carried out in four steps: the first step is conceptualization, which means the selection of the database, the definition of search

terms and the criteria for selection (SR1). The second and third step is the two-phase review process, which means the selection of studies based on title and abstracts (SR2- SR3), followed by the selection of articles based on reading the full content of the articles. The fourth step is the analysis and processing of the articles (SR4)

#### **II.3.** Critical Discourse Analysis (CDA)

Using the method of critical discourse analysis, the mission statements available on museums' websites were investigated. The aim of the research was to analyze how European contemporary art museums have incorporated sustainability into their mission statements.

In the discursive analysis of the mission of museums, the aspects to be analyzed emerged through the examination of the texts themselves, in an iterative process.

Through an iterative coding process, we developed a set of investigative criteria and an associated coding scheme by repeatedly reading and analysing the introductory texts of the first 20 randomly selected museums.

#### Rationale for the choice of method

Museum discourse is under-researched, especially the processes of positioning and meaningmaking. Museum discourse analysis can tell us a lot about the values according to which museums create knowledge and the role these might play in future practices. It can also give an idea of the message it wants to convey to its audience and the language it uses to communicate it.

#### **II.4.** Content Analysis

In defining the main features of content analysis (CA), Klaus Krippendorff (2004) emphasised that it is a research technique that, while analyzing texts, seeks to draw conclusions not only about the texts themselves but also about their context.

Based on the research question, the categories, themes and aspects that researchers should consider when collecting data are defined. A code list is then developed and completed by the analysts in the form of a research diary. The categorization scheme built on this basis is a list of questions where the questions are formulated in a form to be decided: whether or not the theme/programme/initiative etc. appears on the website.

#### **Rational for the choice of method**

In content analysis, the interpretation of the data should take into account all other textual and non-textual contextual elements that may have an impact on the corpus of texts under analysis. On this basis, content analysis is therefore a suitable method to organise the textual and visual information contained in each website into a coherent and generalisable structure and to formulate it into a database that can be analyzed and interpreted (Géring 2017).

#### **II.5. Q-method research**

The Q-method combines the characteristics of qualitative and quantitative research methods. It is qualitative because it focuses on the subjectivity of opinions and attitudes, but analyzes and evaluates the data quantitatively (e.g. factor analysis, correlation). Q-methodology helps to systematically investigate human subjective opinion-making and decision-making. No two people perceive the world in the same way, and these different perspectives are used to create typologies in this research method (Hofmeister & Tóth-Simon 2006). Commonly PQMethod 2.35 software is used to process the data. First, a correlation matrix between the Q-samples is generated and then factor analysis is performed. As a result of the factor analysis each group of opinions are separated and the Q-ordering that is on average characteristic of that group of opinions is produced. Based on the individual preference rankings, the method produces a certain number of factors, then Varimax rotation is conducted since the factors explain 60% of the variance, which is the minimum criterion.

#### Rationale for the choice of method

Due to its exploratory nature, the Q-method can answer potentially complex and socially controversial questions (Watts & Stenner, 2008) and focuses on identifying and interpreting respondents' views (Davis & Michelle 2011). In a Q-method study, participants develop their own preferences set by subjective ranking. Methodologically, the advantage of ranking statements is that it captures how people tend to relate these ideas to each other (in contrast, participants in a questionnaire rate statements one by one and may even score each statement equally, so the final result can only be interpreted separately).

#### **II.6. In-depth interviews**

#### Method: Grounded theory (GT)

The grounded theory (GT) method was chosen for the research. In addition to the two main methodological approaches, Glaser's classical (1967) and Strauss-Corbin's (1998) approach, many other subtypes have appeared in the literature. For our study, we chose the constructivist approach, which is related to Charmaz's methodology (2006), the main distinguishing feature of which is that it recognizes that the researcher him/herself is an important part of the research process.

Based on in-depth interviews, which is a qualitative data collection method that allows for the collection of a large amount of information about the behaviour, attitude and perception of the

interviewees the grounded theory method was carried out. This process starts with the identification of an area of interest followed by the various stages of data collection, analysis and concept development and ends with the representation of axial coding in diagrammatic form.

#### Rationale for the choice of method

As the concept of a family-friendly museum had not yet emerged as a formal strategy, but rather as a semi-structured interview to explore the perceived and real perceptions and attitudes of museum professionals and families, the use of semi-structured interviews was justified to explore the perspectives. This type of qualitative interview provides a flexible guide or roadmap around a list of themes and the researcher is able to probe, explore and ask further questions, exploring the subject area in depth (Patton 2002).

As there is no specific theory that allows for the formulation and testing of hypotheses, our research adopted a grounded theory approach as discussed above.

#### **III. RESULTS**

#### **III.1.** Response to the main research question

**Research question** (**RQ**): How can a sustainable museum be defined based on the mission statements of European contemporary art museums and according to the value preferences of museum professionals and museum visitors?

The sustainable museum is future-oriented, its long-term strategy is characterized by a multidimensional approach. Its activities aim to achieve greater performance primarily through cultural sustainability, to manage its collection in a sustainable way and preserve it for future generations.

The economic stability is the core condition for this, to achieve this it should be innovative, proactive in building partnerships with economic and cultural actors, especially with the tourism sector, as it is an important part of cultural tourism.

In addition, the sustainable museum needs active communities and therefore it is important to pay attention to the needs of visitors who are increasingly conscious. It means taking into account the fact that some visitors like to go to museums to learn and expand their professional knowledge but some of them for leisure and entertainment purposes. In order to increase the range of knowledgeable audiences, museum needs to involve them as an active interpreter taking into account the new paradigm of personalized museum experience. Its relationship with visitors is based on the fact that a visit to a museum does not start and end at the museum, therefore a multi-phase visitor experience should be designed by the museum

professionals. Its role in shaping society is significant, focusing attention on marginalized communities, which contributes significantly to the idea of a sustainable future. It is also environmentally aware in the way it operates and communicates this approach to its visitors.

# As a result of the research, the six sub-questions (Q1, Q2, Q3, Q4, Q5, Q6) were answered as follows:

*Q1.* What sustainability practices characterize European contemporary art museums based on the information set out in their mission statements?

#### **Response to Q1**:

The results show that economic stability and the need for it is highlighted by several museums as a core condition. Environmental management, although encompassing a wide range of activities in the literature, is nevertheless scattered and generalised in the missions.

The social roles and the areas related to the core function of the museum were the most prominent sustainability themes, i.e. the dimensions to which museums can contribute most to sustainable development.

Q2. Are there regional differences in the sustainability contents of the mission statements? What are the differences between mission statements in CEE and non-CEE countries' museums?

#### **Response to Q2**:

Regional differences emerged on several points. Environmental management, economic stability and innovative, proactive behaviour are also stronger in non-CEE countries. However, sustainability practices arising from the museum's function are more prominent in CEE museums, with art-centredness, sustainable management of exhibitions and collections, and a stronger research base. In terms of societal roles, the picture is mixed from a regional perspective, with education and community engagement being more prominent in CEE museums, while accessibility and impact on society are more prominent in museums in non-CEE countries.

Q3. What are the sustainability practices of European museums based on information available on their website?

#### **Response to Q3:**

In our study, we found that the existence and level of the four pillars of sustainability reflect the viability of museums and the importance of their role in society and that it is therefore particularly important for their operations to be linked to the environment that surrounds them and without the support of which they cannot be sustainable.

Our research confirms that museums strive for greater performance primarily along the lines

of cultural sustainability, but also for social integration. In this respect, regional differences are starting to disappear. The third pillar, which plays an important role for museums, is the economic approach, but there are already differences in this area and the results show that these gaps are also weakening sustainability indicators. As the literature indicates, museums are the least focused on environmental sustainability.

Q4. What are the most important criteria for a sustainable museum?

#### **Response to Q4**:

As a result of the research, three dominant perspectives could be distinguished: exhibitionoriented innovator, collection-oriented strategist and education-based leader. Although museum managers approach the concept of a sustainable museum from different perspectives, economic stability based on innovation, social responsibility to reach communities and the transmission of cultural values are all important to them. However, the environmental dimension has not yet been integrated into the functioning of Hungarian museums, weakening the holistic approach to sustainability.

In our research, we have found that providing personalised museum experiences and opportunities for interaction is still a new field of museology in Hungary. These may be new technological solutions to which museums are open and we believe that these developments will contribute to the effectiveness of museums not only in cultural terms, but also in all dimensions of sustainability.

# *Q5.* What are the elements of museum sustainability that Generation Z prefers? **Response to Q5**:

The results show that the areas in which young museum visitors expressed a strong or moderate level of need reflect the idea that museums should manage their collections in a sustainable way and preserve them for future generations. These visitors also agree that museums need active communities. It is important for museums to pay attention to the needs of visitors who are increasingly aware and to take into account that some visitors like to go to museums for leisure and entertainment purposes. Respondents desire that museums be accessible to everyone, while others mainly want to learn and expand their professional knowledge. In order to increase the range of knowledgeable audiences, museums need to involve their visitors. It is necessary to take into account the changing roles and professional skill-related needs of museum experts. Q6. What are the criteria for family-friendly museums?

#### **Response to Q6**:

Based on our findings, it can be concluded that the family represents a special type of visitor for museums. This is mostly determined by the fact that museums need to be able to provide an experience for several age groups at the same time, so a multi-generational approach is needed.

We identified aspects that museums may need to pay more attention to during the preparation, visit, and follow-up phases and pinpointed the factors that are necessary to create an ideal family-friendly museum. Museums should encourage interaction, which can take place within the family, between families or between the family and museum experts and educators.

#### **III.2.** Theoretical contributions

Table 3. summarises the main theoretical contributions of the studies in relation to the research questions and methodologies.

Ν	Theoretical and practical contributions	Methodology applied	Related Q	Paper
1	Identifying 15 key sustainability thematic roles of the museums	Critical Discourse Analysis (CDA)	Q1	A1
2	Identifying the objectives and roles along which different practices exist in CEE and non-CEE countries	Critical Discourse Analysis (CDA)	Q2	A1
3	Identifying the proportion and level of achievement of the sustainability objectives of museums	Content analysis	Q3	A2
4	Identifying 3 dominant perspectives of Hungarian museum leaders for sustainable museum	Q method	Q4	A3
5	Novel identification of the potential tool for enhancing sustainability: personalised museum experiences is the new technological challenge	Literature review Q method	Q4	A3
6	Novel synthesis of the literature on sustainable museum	Systematic Literature Review (SLR)	Q4	A4
7	Novel approach using the Q-method to explore the trends that characterise the engagement and mechanism of action of opinion groups.	Q method	Q4, Q5	A3, A4
8	Identifying 3 dominant perspectives of young museum visitors for sustainable museum	Q method	Q5	A4
9	Creation of model of multi-phase museum visit, new approach to be used by museums to target visitors	Grounded theory	Q6	A5

Table 4. Theoretical and practical contribution of research

#### Source: own editing

(1) The research complements the empirical literature on sustainable museums and contributes to broadening the theoretical background with regard to sustainable museums. The mission of museums in this context has not been examined before. The research has shed light on the value preferences that define museums and around which they can develop sustainable strategies.

- (2) The novelty of the research is that there has been no research on museum sustainability specifically in the context of European contemporary museums. Our study investigated the differences between museums in CEE and other countries, thus contributing to both museum management and sustainability research.
- (3) No previous study has measured and compared sustainability indicators at the international level. The museums studied operate in different regions of Europe, in very different economic and social contexts. Their comparison is an important contribution to the theoretical literature of sustainable museums and museum management.
- (4) Research with Hungarian museum leaders has shown that there are several possible approaches to establishing a sustainable museum strategy. Through this research, we have contributed to the application of sustainability in practice.
- (5) Among the preferences of the members of the three factors, we found two statements that neither represents agreement nor disagreement, both related to the museum visiting experience: interactivity makes it easier to reach younger generations and the museum of the future offers a personalised experience. These are areas in which museums have not yet made much progress, and the inclusion of AI in museum visits is one of the developments that could open up new horizons, and museums should therefore make a greater effort to learn about and apply these solutions.
- (6) Novel synthesis of the literature on sustainable museums. We have highlighted that the topic is under-researched in tourism.
- (7) The Q-method is used to explore the trends that characterise the engagement and mechanism of action of opinion groups. Research illustrates the current conditions, but also outlines desirable and possible future alternatives.
- (8) The research provides insight into the differences and similarities between Generation Z opinion preferences and thus contributes to a deeper understanding of the sustainability of museums from the perspective of future museum visitors.
- (9) Several articles have contributed to the literature by exploring families as museum visitors. Some relevant studies have specifically investigated in the motivations of families to visit museums. However, these previous studies have focused on only one aspect of the family-friendly elements of museums. The present study adds to previous literature by offering a model of the family-friendly museum and sets up a multi-phase visitor model to help museums reach other visitor target groups.

#### **III.3.** Practical implications

Overall, my research findings provide an insight into the phenomenon of sustainable museums and explores the interfaces along which different interest groups in society can enter into partnership with it.

#### For museums

Museum professionals often use the term sustainability to mean environmentally conscious operations and economic stability. The research explored all dimensions of a sustainable museum, not only these 2 pillars but also the cultural and social aspects.

Building on the results of the research, each museum can develop its own strategy and identify the factors that make it perform well and those that make it less effective. The research has shown that sustainability is a very complex concept, which can lead museum professionals to be confused about it, but they can use the results of the research to embark on this long but seemingly inevitable transformation.

This study highlighted the most important elements for sustainable museums from the perspective of members of Generation Z. Young visitors are very important for museums and the research pointed out that today's young people are already very conscious museum visitors and have specific expectations. Based on these museums can plan their services and programs.

The research provides useful insights for museum management and helps them to develop partnerships with different stakeholders and to take proactive steps in long-term discussions with cultural policymakers.

In our study, we found that the existence and level of the four pillars of sustainability reflects the viability of museums and the importance of their role in society and that it is therefore particularly important for their operations to be linked to the environment that surrounds them and without the support of which they cannot be sustainable.

#### For the tourism sector

Awareness of the concept of sustainable museums is an important element in the drive towards sustainable tourism. We hope that the dissertation will provide not only scientific basis for further research (due to there is lack of studies on this theme) but practical contribution to building strategies in creating quality offers, targeting a travelling public who are discerning, culture-loving and conscious visitors. Art tourism, which includes museums could be one of the future trends in this field.

#### For cities and local governments,

Cities and regions have a lot to gain from museums. As well as providing academic work and value to communities, they are also important catalysts for a region's economy. However, it is also very important for policymakers to understand the values of sustainable museums and the directions that museum development should take in the museum sector. It is important to see that museums are first and foremost social institutions with a strong scientific background and can not only be an economic catalyst but they can also raise the prestige and reputation of a region, putting a city or region on the world map in areas where it would otherwise not be accessible.

#### III.4. Limitations and future research directions

However, the research study was limited to exploring the mission of museums and did not analyse other sources of information from museums that could provide additional information on museums' attitudes towards sustainability. Therefore, in the future, it would be worthwhile to extend the research to analyse the information and strategy documents of the museums' entire website and to explore other methodologies, such as case studies. Despite the richness of the contributions from our informants, our study about museum experts, Z generation and families has limitations. The first is that only Hungarian participants were included in the sample. Thus the study could be enhanced in the future by involving experts and visitors from other regions, which may reveal other perspectives. Further research on the relationship between sustainable museums and tourism would be useful for the development of tourism services. In order to meet the needs of tourists, an important visitor segment of museums, a new service paradigm needs to be developed to replace the product-oriented approach to exhibitions.

#### **IV. REFERENCES**

- Aguayo, C., Eames, C. & Cochrane, T. (2020): A Framework for Mixed Reality Free-Choice, Self-Determined Learning. *Research in Learning Technology*, 28, 2347.
- Aleksandrov Y. (2021): Construction of green roofs and walls, hanging gardens and water cascade for an extension between the Alvar Aalto museum and the museum of central finland, *Bulgarian Journal of Agricultural Science*, 27 (3), 625–630
- Ankersmit, B., Loddo, M., Stappers, M., & Zalm, C. (2021): Museum Storage Facilities in the Netherlands: The Good, the Best and the Beautiful. *Museum International*,73(1-2), 132-143.
- Arroyo, P., Fuenzalida, C., Albert, A. & Hallowell, M. R. (2016): Collaborating in decision making of sustainable building design: An experimental study comparing CBA and WRC methods. *Energy and Buildings*, 128, 132-142.
- Azmat, F., Ferdous, A., Rentschler, R., & Winston, E. (2018): Arts-based initiatives in museums: Creating value for sustainable development, *Journal of Business Research*. 85, 386–395.
- Belfiore, E., & Bennett, O. (2007): Rethinking the social impacts of the arts. International *Journal of Cultural Policy*. 13, 135–151.
- Bodnár D., Jászberényi M., & Ásványi K. (2017): Az új múzeológia megjelenése a budapesti múzeumokban. *Turizmus Bulletin* 17 (1-2), 45-55.
- Brown, K. (2020): When museums meet markets, *Journal of Visual Art Practice*, 19:3, pp. 203-210.
- Calvi, L., Moretti, S., Koens, K., & Klijs, J. (2020): The future of cultural tourism; Steps towards resilience and future scenarios. ENCATC, 2, pp. 34–40.
- Campolmi, I. (2013): What is Sustainability in Modern Art Museums? Archétopy Art Museums and Shifting Paradigms of Knowledge. *The International Journal of the Inclusive Museum* 6 (1), 13-24.
- Carr, C. (2021): Board Age Diversity and the Future of Museum Leadership. *Curator*, 64, 237-252.
- Carroll, D., & Slater, K. (2009): Revenue diversification in nonprofit organisations: Does it lead to financial stability? *Journal of Public Administration Research and Theory*,19(4), 947–966.
- Charmaz, K. (2006): Constructing Grounded Theory. Sage, Thousand Oaks
- Clini, P., & Quattrini, R. (2021): Digital Cultural Heritage, arts reproduction and Museums systems. Languages and techniques in a Covid and post-Covid scenario for new forms of heritage against the silence of a fragile culture. *SCIRES-IT-SCIentific RESearch and Information Technology*, 11(1), 1-10.
- Coman, A., & Pop, I. (2012): Entrepreneurship the Key for a Successful Museum, International Conference: Entrepreneurship Education – a priority for the higher education institutions, Bucharest, 2012, 60-65
- Davis, CH.H. & Michell, C. (2011): Q Methodology in Audience Research: Bridging the Qualitative/Quantitative 'Divide'? Participation 8.2.
- Dollery, B., Byrnes, J., & Crase, L. (2007): Too tough a nut to crack: Determining fiscal sustainability in Australian local government. *Australasian Journal of Regional Studies*, 13 (2), 110–132.
- Douglas, K. & Carless, D. (2018): Engaging with arts-based research: a story in three parts, *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, 15 (2-3), 156-172.

- Géring Zs. (2017): Kevert szövegelemzési módszertan alkalmazása gazdasági és társadalmi jelenségek vizsgálatához Online CSR-kommunikáció vizsgálata tartalomelemzéssel és diskurzuselemzéssel. *Vezetéstudomány*, 48 (4), 55-66.
- Glaser, B.G. & Strauss, A.L. (1967): The Discovery of Grounded Theory Strategies for Qualitative Research, Aldine, Chicago (2006 reprint)
- Gustafsson, Ch., & Ijla, A. (2017): "Museums A Catalyst for Sustainable Economic Development in Sweden." *International Journal of Innovative Development & Policy Studies* 5(2), 1-14.
- Günerí, A, & Gülaçtı, I. E. (2022): Business models transformed by digitalization in contemporary art museums and galleries, *Journal of Graphic Engineering and Design*, 13 (1)
- Hammady, R., Ma, M., AL-Kalha, Z. et al. (2021): A framework for constructing and evaluating the role of MR as a holographic virtual guide in museums. *Virtual Reality* 25, 895–918.
- Hassanizadeh, N. & Noorzai E. (2020): "Improving lighting efficiency in existing art museums: a case study", Facilities, 39 (5/6), 366-388.
- Han, H., Lho, L. H, Kim, H.-Ch. & Untaru, E-N (2021): Sustainable Choices and Behaviors among Eco-Friendly Museum Travelers: Exploring the Drivers of Sacrifice, Visit, Pay, and WOM Intentions. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health* 18 (2), 845.
- Hansson, P. & Öhman, J. (2022): Museum education and sustainable development: A public pedagogy. *European Educational Research Journal*, 21(3), 469–483.
- Hofmeister Tóth, Á. & Simon, J. (2006): A Q-módszer elmélete és alkalmazása a marketingkutatásban. *Vezetéstudomány* 3(9), 16-26.
- Huang, H., Su, D., & Peng, W. (2022): Novel Mobile Application System for Implementation of an Eco-Incentive Scheme. *Sustainability* 14, 3055.
- Jurčišinová K., Wilders M.L., & Visser J. (2021): The Future of Blockbuster Exhibitions After the Covid-19 Crisis: The Case of the Dutch Museum Sector.
- Llamazares de Prado, J. E. (2021): Inclusive Politics on the International Scene, Arts and Education as Key Elements in the International Workplace. *Arts Education Policy Review*, 1–11.
- Magliacani, M. & Sorrentino, D. (2021): Embedding sustainability dimensions in university collections management: a "scientific journey" into a natural history museum, *Journal of Cultural Heritage Management and Sustainable Development*, 11 (4), 395-410.
- Manfriani, C., Gualdani,G., Goli, G., Carlson, B., Certo, A.R., Mazzanti, P., & Fioravanti, M. (2021): The Contribution of IoT to the Implementation of Preventive Conservation According to European Standards: The Case Study of the "Cannone" Violin and Its Historical Copy. Sustainability 13, 1900.
- Matteucci, X., Koens, K. Calvi, L., Moretti, S. (2022): Envisioning the futures of cultural tourism. Futures, 142:103013. doi: 10.1016/j.futures.2022.103013. Epub 2022 Jul 28. PMID: 36061420; PMCID: PMC9418509.
- Molina-Torres, M.-P. (2021): Eco-Didactic Project for the Knowledge of a Community Museum. *Sustainability* 13, 3918
- Moldavanova, A. (2016): Two Narratives of Intergenerational Sustainability: A Framework for Sustainable Thinking. *The American Review of Public Administration*, 46(5), 526-545.
- Muñoz-López, N., Biedermann, A., Santolaya-Sáenz, J.L., Valero-Martín, J.I. & Serrano-Tierz, A. (2021): Sustainability in the Design of an Itinerant Cultural Exhibition. Study of Two Alternatives. *Appl. Sci.* 11,9863.

- Navas Iannini, A.M. & Pedretti, E (2022): Museum staff perspectives about a sustainability exhibition: what do they tell us about scientific literacy?, *International Journal of Science Education*, Part B, 12 (1), 1-21.
- Patton, M.Q. (2002): Two Decades of Developments in Qualitative Inquiry: A Personal, Experiential Perspective, *Qualitative Social Work*, Vol. 1(3): 261-283
- Pedro, L.M., Tavares, P.F. & Coelho, D.H. (2013): *Efficient lighting design for a museum exhibition room*. In Proceedings of the Energy for Sustainability 2013 Conference. Sustainable Cities: Designing for People and the Planet, Coimbra, Portugal, 8–10 September 2013; p. 1.
- Pencarelli, T., Cerquetti, M & Splendiani, S. (2016): The sustainable management of museums: an Italian perspective, *Tourism and Hospitality Management*, 22(1), 29-46, May.
- Pop, I. L. & Borza, A. (2015): "Sustainable museums for sustainable development." Advances in Business-Related Scientific Research Journal 6(2), 119-131.
- Pop, I., & Borza, A. (2016): Factors Influencing Museum Sustainability and Indicators for Museum Sustainability Measurement. *Sustainability*, 8(1), 101.
- Schaper, M., Santos, M., Malinverni, L., Berro, J.Z.& Pares, N. (2018): Learning about the past through situatedness, embodied exploration and digital augmentation of cultural heritage sites. *International Journal of Human Computer Studies* 114, 35-50.
- Soini, K. & Birkeland, I. (2014): Exploring the scientific discourse on cultural sustainability, *Geoforum*, 51, 213-223,
- Sterrett, J. & Piantavigna, R. (2018): Building an Environmentally Sustainable San Francisco Museum of Modern Art, *Studies in Conservation*, 63:sup1, 242-250,
- Stokburger-Sauer, N.E. & Wetzels, M. (2007): Museum management and art sponsorship: empirical findings about visitor's involvement and a sponsor's corporate image enhancement, Proceedings of European Marketing Academy Conference, Reykjavik University, Iceland, 22-25 May 2007.
- Strauss, A.L. & Corbin, J. (1998): Basics of Qualitative Research: Techniques and Procedures for Developing Grounded Theory. Sage Publications, Thousand Oaks
- Stylianou-Lambert, Th., Boukas, N., & Yerali, M. C. (2014): Museums and cultural sustainability: stakeholders, forces, and cultural policies. *International Journal of Cultural Policy*, 20 (5), 566-587.
- Viau-Courville, M. (2021): From connoisseur to the good manager. Perspectives in managerial curatorship from Canada and Brazil. *Curator*, 64, 321-342.
- Wang, Yun-Ciao, Chin-Ling Chen, & Yong-Yuan Deng (2021): Museum-Authorization of Digital Rights: A Sustainable and Traceable Cultural Relics Exhibition Mechanism Sustainability 13 (4), 2046.

Watts, S & Stenner, P. (2008): Doing Q Methodological Research, Sage, Los Angeles

Wickham, Mark & Lehman, Kim. (2015): Communicating sustainability priorities in the museum sector, *Journal of Sustainable Tourism*, 23 (7), 1011-1028

#### V. LIST OF PUBLICATIONS

Own publications relevant to the research:

- Fehér, Zs. & Ásványi, K (2023):Differences in sustainability approaches from the mission statements of CEE and other European contemporary art museums, Journal of Contemporary Central and Eastern Europe m(accepted, under publication)
- Fehér, Zs, Ásványi, K. & Jászberényi, M. (2021): Fenntartható múzeumok az európai régiókban. Észak-Magyarországi Stratégiai Füzetek, 18 (3), 92-102.
- Fehér, Zs. (2023): Múzeumok a fenntarthatóság keresztmetszetében. *Magyar Tudomány* 2023/184 (1), 73-83.
- Ásványi, K. & Fehér, Zs. (2023): Generation Z perspectives on museum sustainability using Q methodology, Muzeológia a kultúrne dedičstvo, <u>11(1)</u>, 19-35.
- Ásványi, K., Fehér, Zs. C Jászberényi, M. (2021): The Family-Friendly Museum: Museums through the eyes of families, Muzeológia a kultúrne dedičstvo, 9(1), 21-40.
- Fehér, Zs. (2022): A múzeumok desztinációfejlesztő hatása In: Jászberényi, Melinda; Boros, Kitti; Miskolczi, Márk (szerk.) Vonzerőfejlesztés a kulturális és aktív turizmusban Budapest, Magyarország : Akadémiai Kiadó (2022) Paper: 3. fejezet szaktanulmány (
- Fehér, Zs. & Ásványi, K. (2021):Fenntartható múzeumok az Y generáció preferenciái mentén In: Mitev, Ariel; Csordás, Tamás; Horváth, Dóra; Boros, Kitti (szerk.) "Post traumatic marketing: virtuality and reality" – Proceedings of the EMOK 2021 International Conference Budapest, Magyarország: Corvinus University of Budapest (2021) 558 p. pp. 412-421., 10 p.
- Ásványi, K., Fehér, Zs. & Jászberényi, M. (2020):*Fenntartható múzeumok a múzeumok szerepvállalásának jövője* In: Ercsey, Ida (szerk.) Marketing a digitalizáció korában : Az Egyesület a Marketing Oktatásért és Kutatásért XXVI. Országos konferenciájának előadásai Győr, Magyarország: Széchenyi Istvá Egyetem (2020) pp. 201-212., 12 p.
- Ásványi, K., Fehér, Zs. & Jászberényi, M. (2021): The Criteria Framework for Sustainable Museum Development In: Romina, Alkier; Suzana, Marković; Marko, Perić (szerk.) ToSEE - Tourism in Southern and Eastern Europe 2021 : 6th International Scientific Conference : Conference Proceedings Opatija, Horvátország : University of Rijeka Faculty of Tourism and Hospitality Management (2021) pp. 39-51., 13 p.
- Fehér, Zs. & Ásványi, K. (2022): Sustainability approaches of European contemporary art museums based on their mission statements In: EMAC 2022 Annual: Proceedings of the European Marketing Academy (2022) Paper: A2022-107330
- Fehér, Zs. & Ásványi, K. (2022):Differences in sustainability approaches of European contemporary art museums In: Dobers, Peter; Gawell, Malin; Gärde, Johan;
  Silfverskiöld, Stefan (szerk.) Proceedings of the 28th Annual Conference, International Sustainable Development Research Society: Sustainable Development and Courage: Culture, Art and Human Rights
  Stockholm, Svédország : Södertörn University (2022) 1,866 p. pp. 1101-1101, 1 p.